I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Petitioner is Sarah Christner, a former unemployment benefit 

claimant and recipient. She was the Appellant in the Court of Appeals and 

in Snohomish County Superior Court, the Petitioner before the 

Employment Security Department's Commissioner's Review Office, and 

the Appellee before the Office of Administrative Hearings. 

II. CITATION TO THE COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION 

Ms. Christner seeks review of the Court's of Appeals' unpublished 

opinion in Christner v. Emp 't Sec. Dep 't. No. 730424-0-1, Wash. Ct. App. 

(June 6, 2016), which terminated review of Ms. Christener's eligibility 

and entitlement to unemployment benefits ("Opinion"). 1 

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

A. Whether the Court of Appeals erred by not liberally construing the 

Employment Security Act when undertaking statutory interpretation of 

RCW 50.04.294, when omitting this analysis could jeopardize 

Washington's receipt of federal funding ofthe Federal-State 

Unemployment Insurance Program? RCW 34.05.570(3)(d). Yes. 

1 A copy of the Opinion is attached at Appendix A. 
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B. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in interpreting "standards of 

behavior" under RCW 50.04.294(1)(b) subjectively rather than objectively 

and adding a new and unnecessary "hardship" standard for support-both 

of which go beyond what our Legislature intended under a plain meaning 

interpretation and when such an interpretation will serve to disqualify 

more unemployment claimants than existing coverage allows? RCW 

34.05.570(3)( d). Yes. 

C. Whether an unemployment claimant's fundamental Constitutional 

due process protections for a fair hearing before a neutral fact-finder under 

the Fourteenth Amendment and federal law,§ 303(a)(3) ofthe Social 

Security Act--i.e., to have proper notice, an opportunity to confront and 

cross-examine one's accusers, and the opportunity to object to or rebut 

documentary evidence--can be ignored after ESD determines benefits 

should be allowed and where (i) substantial evidence in the record 

establishes that the claimant was prejudiced and harmed by the due 

process deprivations and (ii) Washington's disregard of these fundamental 

rights could jeopardize federal funding to the unemployment insurance 

program? RCW 34.05.570(3)(d), (i). No. 

D. Whether it is error to permit an employer to circumvent its legal 

obligation to produce potentially disqualifying information at the initial 

eligibility stage, when its failure to do so circumvents the claimant's right 
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to due process rights and when the charge of "misconduct," under the 

guise of a policy violation, is raised for the first time at the hearing, 

particularly where such incongruity violates the Employment Security 

Act? RCW 34.05.570(3)(d), (e), (i). Yes. 

E. Whether substantial evidence in the record shows WCPM did not 

meet its burden of proof with credible or reliable evidence by a 

preponderance of evidence under RCW 50.04.294(1)(a), (2)(t) or (l)(b)? 

RCW 34.05.570(3)(e). Yes. 

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Petitioner, Sarah Christner was a front desk receptionist who 

worked at various clinic locations for Washington Center for Pain 

Management (WCPM), the former employer in this case. She was paid 

$15 per hour and the job was at-will. CP 109. Ms. Christner testified that 

when she interviewed, she told WCPM about her long-term career goal to 

obtain a full-time job in her field oflaw enforcement. CP 135, 158. Ms. 

Christner also was unavailable to WCPM one weekend a month in her 

military career as a United States Army Reservist. CP 135, 155, 159. 

In the last few weeks of employment, Ms. Christner experienced 

two acute medical issues necessitating her need to take time off from work 
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on "shortnotice."CP 135,155,158,173-75. WCPMhasapolicythat 

states: 

"All requests from (Inaudible) must be submitted in writing, urn-
urn, through your supervisor at least two weeks in advance of 
approval by the director of operations and will be granted as 
staffing allows .... The objective ofthe time off is to ensure that 
absences will be scheduled in advance whenever possible." 

CP 132. 

WCPM did not produce a copy ofthis policy. 
The day after Ms. Christner took time off for a doctor's 

appointment for an acute medical issue, WCPM reminded her about the 

two weeks' advance notice for time off and made it a "no exceptions" rule 

as applied only to Ms. Christner. CP 173. Ms. Christner reminded WCPM 

that she was looking for looking for fulltime work in law enforcement and 

that she could not guarantee she could meet WCPM's requirement to 

always put in the requests two weeks' advance notice; WCPM, in tum, 

asked for her resignation. CP 156, Opinion at p. 3. Ms. Christner provided 

the resignation as directed and continued to provide labor at WCPM for 

two more weeks. CP 156. 

Ms. Christner filed for unemployment benefits. On the Discharge 

Questionnaire, EMS 5341-C, Ms. Christner reported the reason WCPM 

gave her was, "Employer was unable to accommodate short notice time 

off requests any further." CP 149-52, at 149. She certified that her "time 
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off requests made with as much diligence as possible," that "she tried [her] 

best to schedule appointments around work hours but most times [she] 

was unable to do that," and that "[m]ost appointments were for medical 

reasons and some were personal." CP 150. 

WCPM certified on the EMS 5361 Form that Ms. Christner quit 

her job. CP at 147-48. Opinion at p. 3. WCPM only completed the quit 

section of the form. CP at 147-48. WCPM included two documents to 

ESD to support a "quit": (1) a "Resignation" letter, and (2) a "Goodbye" 

letter to WCPM staff. CP at 153-54. 

During ESD's fact-finding investigation, WCPM did not produce 

copies of any relevant attendance, paid time off, or protected leave 

employment policies. WCPM did not provide attendance records or dates 

and details of the alleged incidents, or provide relevant data as to whether 

the requests were partial or full-day requests or whether these requests 

were approved. CP 140. ESD's determination states: 

"Based on the available information, no evidence has been 
provided showing your actions were a willful or deliberate 
disregard of your employer's rules, policies or best interests." 

CP at 140. 

ESD adjudicated the "quit" as a "discharge" and allowed benefits, 

concluding that as a matter of law Ms. Christner was eligible for benefits. 

Opinion at p. 3. CP at 139-43. WCPM filed an "appeal," and for the first 
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time, requested to be relieved of benefit charges. In its letter to ESD, 

WCPM's CEO reiterated that Ms. Christner voluntarily quit and stated its 

intent regarding proving misconduct:: 

"Our intent was not to establish misconduct, but rather to show that 
the claimant's departure was due to a voluntary quit. We believe a 
statement we made during a phone call was taken out of context. 
Per attached emails, while we did request the claimant to resign, it 
was as a result of her repeated requests for time off on short notice, 
even by her own admission. The claimant's position requires full 
time staffing and the business cannot accommodate multiple short 
notice requests for time off. We therefore request relief of benefit 
charging." 

Letter from Jae Lee, CEO, WCPM. CP at 146. 

The case was set for a hearing before an administrative law judge 

(ALJ) at the Office of Administrative Hearings. The Notice of Hearing did 

not cite RCW 50.04.294, which defines misconduct; instead it cited RCW 

50.20.066-the statute that provides the amount of time a claimant will be 

disqualified under RCW 50.04.294.2 

At the hearing, Ms. Christner represented herself pro se. WCPM 

was represented by Ms. Bundy. CP 86, 111. When asked whether Ms. 

Christner quit, was discharged, or laid off, Ms. Bundy testified that Ms. 

Christner "ultimately quit." CP 96. WCPM did not use the word, 

"discharge" or "terminate to characterize Ms. Christner's separation from 

2 The misconduct statute is attached at Appendix C. 
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employment during the hearing. CP 77-13 7. Ms. Christner stated she was 

discharged. CP 113. The ALJ did not offer Ms. Christner an opportunity to 

confront or cross-examine Mr. Bromberg, the Controller, after the ALJ 

called him to testify, or of Mr. Lee, the CEO later in the hearing after he 

testified. CP 86, 111-12, 133-34, 136. The ALJ closed the evidence 

portion of the hearing without adding additional documents. CP 134. 

WCPM did not make any closing argument about misconduct. CP 136. 

The ALJ reversed ESD's determination to allow benefits and 

remanded the overpayment. The basis for the ALJ' s disqualification was 

under RCW 50.04.294(1)(a) and RCW 50.04.294(2)(f). Concl. Of Law 7 

and 8 at CP 163. The ALJ did not make credibility findings. CP 161-68. 

Still proceeding pro se, Ms. Christner petitioned for review to 

ESD's Commissioner's Review Office, attributing error to the ALJ's 

findings of fact and conclusions of law and pointed out the hearing was 

tilted in the employer's favor. 3 CP 172-75. 

The ESD Commissioner "affirmed as corrected" the ALJ's initial 

order, removing the disqualification under RCW 50.04.294(1)(a) and 

(2)(b) denying under RCW 50.04.294(1 )(b), and remanding the 

overpayment. CP 178-80 (emphasis retained). The Commissioner did not 

make credibility findings. CP 178-80. 

3 Ms. Christner's Petition for Review is attached as Appendix B. 
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At oral argument on January 13, 2016, the parties acknowledged 

there is no precedential authority that interprets RCW 50.04.294(1)(b). 

Following oral argument, the parties submitted supplemental briefing on 

what weight and effect the Court should assign to ESD's Unemployment 

Insurance Resource Manual (UIRM). 

On June 6, 2016, the Court of Appeals filed its decision to affirm 

the denial ofbenefits under RCW 50.04.294(1)(b), holding the "short 

notice" requests for time off constituted a "deliberate violation or 

disregard of the standards of behavior which the employer has the right to 

expect of its employees." Opinion at 12. Ms. Christner petitions the 

Supreme Court for review. 

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 

Under RAP 13.4(b), "(a] petition for review will be accepted by 

the Supreme Court only: 

(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a 
decision of the Supreme Court; or 

(2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with 
another decision of the Court of Appeals; or 

(3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the 
State of Washington or ofthe United States is involved; or 
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( 4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest 
that should be determined by the Supreme Court." 

RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(4). 

As explained below and pursuant to RAP 13 .4(b ), Ms. Christner's 

case presents several issues of substantial public interest, conflict of legal 

interpretations under RCW 50.04.294(1)(a) and (2)(f) cases, and 

fundamental legal questions regarding Constitutional due process rights. 

1. Ms. Christner is entitled to a liberal construction of the Employment 
Security Act, including RCW 50.04.294(1)(b). RAP 13.4(b)(4). 

The Social Security Act of 1935 established the Federal-State 

system of unemployment insurance. It is the public policy of Washington 

that all provisions of the Employment Security Act ("Act") be liberally 

construed to maintain the economic security of our State. Appellant's Op. 

Br. at 26-28. Washington must conform to federal laws and guidelines and 

apply the Act so that claimants are able to obtain the benefits to which 

they are entitled to under the law and so employers may qualify for tax 

credits imposed under 3304(a)(9)(A) ofthe Federal Unemployment Tax 

Act (FUTA). A failure to do so could jeopardize federal funding. 

When Washington's Legislature implemented the Employment 

Security Act, Title 50 RCW, it mandated it" .. . be liberally construed for 

the purpose of reducing involuntary unemployment and the suffering 
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caused thereby to a minimum." Preamble to the Employment Security Act, 

RCW 50.01.010 (emphasis added); Appellant's Op. Br. at 26-28. Not 

only must the Act must be liberally construed, it must be done so in favor 

of the unemployed worker. Appellant's Op. Br. at 27-28. "[T]he statutory 

mandate of liberal construction within the Employment Security Act 

requires the courts to view with caution any construction that would 

narrow the Act's coverage."4Appellant's Op. Br. at 22. 

In 2003, during a Special Session of the Legislature, Senate Bill 

6097 was introduced and passed, apparently without going to committee 

or a public hearing. In addition to an overhaul of the UI tax system, the 

bill proposed drastic revisions to the quit and discharge statutes. At that 

time, the federally-required "liberal construction" was removed. In 2005, 

the liberal construction was added back after the Legislature found the UI 

Program fell short of the goals of the system and ESD was "failing to 

provide equitable benefits to unemployed workers."5 

Because Washington's Legislature has twice made it abundantly 

clear the Act is to be liberally construed, it is imperative that ESD and our 

courts heed that directive. See Appellant's Op. Br. at 22. 

4 W Ports Transp., Inc. v. Employment Sec. Dep't of State of Wash., 110 
Wn. App. 440,450,41 P.3d 510,516 (2002). 

5 Gaines v. Employment Sec. Dep't, 140 Wn. App 791,797-798, 166 
P.3d 1257 (2007). 
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Although the Court of Appeals correctly identifies that the Act 

exists to provide unemployment benefits to claimants who become 

involuntarily unemployed "through no fault of their own," it is legal error 

not to apply a liberal construction to the interpretation of ( 1 )(b) for 

purposes of Ms. Christner's claim. Opinion at p. 5. The court's analysis 

should begin and end with the Legislature's mandate in mind. 

a. The Court's interpretation of (1 )(b) serves to narrow the 
coverage of the Employment Security to exclude more types of 
behavior than was intended by the Legislature. 

The definition and application ofRCW 50.04.294(1)(b) to an 

alleged rule violation is an issue of first impression. The Court of Appeals' 

interpretation of ( 1 )(b) is in error because it will serve to exclude more 

types of behavior as misconduct that was intended by the Legislature or 

that is supported by a plain meaning interpretation. 

When the ESD Commissioner "affirmed as corrected" the 

disqualification, it rebranded the alleged rule violation as a "standard of 

behavior" under RCW 50.04.294(1)(b), and in so doing bypassed the 

analysis required to show the claimant acted in 'willful or wanton 

disregard' of the rights title and interests of the employer under (l)(a) and 

the 'known and reasonable rule' analysis under (2)(f). Opinion at p. 6. 

b. Under its plain meaning, RCW 50.04.294(1)(b) is an objective 
standard-not a subjective one. 
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The Court of Appeals erred in conflating the "rights" ascribed in 

(1 )(b) with the "rights, title, and interest" in (1 )(a). However, the rights 

under these two prongs are different for at least one very important reason: 

Behavior that an employer has "the right" to expect under ( 1 )(b) is that 

behavior for which no warning or notice is required. It is the kind of 

conduct that is universally known and objectively understood to be 

misconduct-regardless of whether the employer has a policy prohibiting 

the conduct and regardless if the claimant was on notice. WCPM does not 

have "the right" to require that employees not request time off on short 

notice because it cuts against Ms. Christner's right as an employee to ask 

and even take time off on short notice in certain situations, such as for 

intermittent FMLA, or when ordered to do so by the USAR. 

While taking time off on short notice without approval could in 

theory be a "standard of behavior" under ( 1 )(b) if the employer can 

establish, objectively, what is "short notice." However, time off policies 

and definitions for "short notice" are unique to each employer. There is no 

universal definition for what is "short notice." 

The reason why a rule violation under (1 )(b) must be an objective 

standard is because otherwise (1 )(b) could be applied subjectively to any 

employer policy by rebranding the conduct as "standards of behavior" and 
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establishing thereby circumventing 'willful' or 'wanton' analysis under 

RCW 50.04.294(1)(a) or 'reasonableness' analysis under 294(2)(f). 

This is what occurred in Ms. Christner's case when the ESD 

Commissioner "corrected" the disqualification from RCW 50.04.294(1)(a) 

and (2)(f) to (l)(b) and found her conduct "evinced a deliberate violation 

and disregard of standards of behavior which an employer has the right to 

expect of an employee." See Opinion at p. 6. 

c. It is error to use a subjective "hardship" analysis to support 
objectively-derived behavior under RCW 50.04.294(1 )(b). 

Contrary to the Court's holding, there is no need to show a 

'hardship' for a disqualification under (l)(b). This analysis is unnecessary, 

goes against the plain meaning of the statute, and does not comport with a 

liberal construction of the Act. Opinion at 3, 4, 6. What matters for 

objectively-derived behavior under (1 )(b) is whether the claimant acted 

deliberately. RCW 50.04.294(1)(b). 

A 'deliberate disregard' under (l)(b) is a lesser standard than a 

'willful or wanton disregard' under (l)(a) and matches the objectively 

understood violations under (l)(b). ESD's UIRM supports this definition: 

"Misconduct is generally established when a claimant 
intentionally violates or disregards standards of behavior 
the employer has the right to expect from an employee. 
Standards of behavior are standards an employee is 
expected to follow without any prior notice or warning by 
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the employer. There is no requirement that the employer 
have a written rule prohibiting the behavior. For example, 
if an employee comes to work under the influence of illegal 
drugs or alcohol or steals from the employer, he or she has 
violated the standards. There is no circumstance that 
excuses the misconduct. 

Impudence, insolence, disrespectfulness or rudeness to 
one's supervisor may be considered a violation of 
universally accepted standards of behavior." 

Employment Security Department's Unemployment Insurance 
Resource Manual, 5440 - Discharge, March 8, 2013. (Emphasis 
added). 

In Christner, had the Court of Appeals undertaken the proper 

analysis under RCW 50.04.294(1)(a) and (2)(t) as originally decided by 

the ALJ, benefits would have been allowed for two reasons. 6
'
7 First, 

WCPM's policy was not reasonable and was not uniformly applied to all 

employees. Second, WCPM did not prove that Ms. Christner willfully or 

wantonly disregarded it. If it had, the ESD Commissioner would not have 

removed the disqualification under these two those prongs. ESD argued 

6 See In re Griswold, 102 Wn. App. 29, 32, 15 P.3d 153, 155 (2000). 
7 Ms. Christner alerts this Court of the recent unpublished decision in 

Rapada v Nooksack Indian Tribe, Wash. Ct. App. No. 74116-1-1, decided June 
20, 2016, which properly analyzed willfulness and wantonness and 
reasonableness under (l)(a) and (2)(f). That opinion held an employer's after-the
fact approval and inconsistent employer practices rendered the good faith rule 
violation not to be misconduct. 
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below that the courts do not need to consider (1 )(a) and (2)(f) that ESD did 

not have to show reasonableness because the ESD Commissioner did not 

make it part of its final decision, but that is incorrect. Rsp. Br. at 14, FN 7. 

d. It is error to hold substantial evidence in the record exists to 
support a disqualification under RCW 50.04.294(1 )(b) or that 
Ms. Christner was "on notice" that she would be defending 
misconduct. RCW 34.05.570(3)(e). 

First, the evidence in the record shows that WCPM did not inform 

Ms. Christner she was being fired for misconduct. This fact is 

uncontroverted. Second, WCPM had an affirmative obligation to timely 

and accurately produce potentially disqualifying information to ESD 

before ESD rendered its determination of eligibility. WAC 192-130-050. 

WCPM certified to ESD that Ms. Christner quit. CP 14748. ESD's 

determination of eligibility, which states WCPM provided "no evidence" 

to support a finding of disqualifying misconduct. 

Third, after ESD adjudicated Ms. Christner claim, WCPM's CEO 

reiterated that Ms. Christner quit her job and repudiated any intent of 

establishing misconduct by stating: "Our intent was not to establish 

misconduct, but rather to show that the claimant's departure was due to a 

voluntary quit." CP at 146 (emphasis added). WCPM' s repudiation of 

misconduct should have negated its contrary and self-serving position 

raised for the first time at the hearing that 'misconduct' caused the job 
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separation. 8 RCW 50.36.010-030. This is particularly when it is clear from 

the record that WCPM' s motivation was solely to obtain relief of benefit 

charges. CP at 146.

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