RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON CLERK'S OFFICE

Sep 02, 2016, 3:16 pm

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

NO. 93429-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SARAH CHRISTNER,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON DEPARTMENT OF EMPLOYMENT SECURITY,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

LEAH HARRIS, WSBA # 40815 Assistant Attorney General Attorneys for Respondent OID #91020 800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 Phone: (206) 464-7676 Fax: (206) 389-2800 E-mail: LALSeaEF@atg.wa.gov

III.	COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE CASE			
IV.	REASONS WHY THE COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW			
	A.	The Court of Appeals Decision Does Not Conflict with Other Appellate Decisions		
	B.	The Petition Does Not Involve an Issue of Substantial Public Interest That Should Be Determined by This Court11		
	C.	This Case Does Not Involve Any Constitutional Issues16		
V.	CO	CONCLUSION		

i

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

State Cases

Christner v. Emp't Sec. Dep't, No. 73024-0-I (Wash. Ct. App. June 6, 2016) 5, 8, 11, 18, 19, 20			
Cowles Publ'g Co. v. Emp't Sec. Dep't, 15 Wn. App. 590, 550 P.2d 712 (1976)15			
Hamel v. Emp't Sec. Dep't, 93 Wn. App. 140, 966 P.2d 1282 (1998)14			
In re Griswold, 102 Wn. App. 29, 15 P.3d 153 (2000)			
Kirby v. Dep't of Emp't Sec., 179 Wn. App. 834, 320 P.3d 123 (2014), review denied, 181 Wn.2d 1004 (2014)			
McDaniel v. Dep't of Soc. and Health Servs., 51 Wn. App. 893, 756 P.2d 143 (1988)17			
Rapada v. Nooksack Indian Tribe, No. 74116-1-I, 2016 WL 3456865 (Wash. Ct. App. June 20, 2016)			
Safeco Ins. Cos., 102 Wn.2d 385, 687 P.2d 195 (1984)15			
Soundgarden v. Eikenberry, 123 Wash.2d 750, 871 P.2d 1050 (1994)17			
State v. Johnson, 180 Wn.2d 295, 325 P.3d 135 (2014)18			
Federal Statutes			
U.S. Const. amend. VI			

(

State Statutes

RCW 34.05.554(1)	
RCW 50.01.010	
RCW 50.04.294	
RCW 50.04.294(1)(a)	
RCW 50.04.294(1)(b)	
RCW 50.04.294(2)(f)	
RCW 50.20.066	
RCW 50.20.050	
Wash. Const. art. 1, §22	

State Rules

RAP 2.5(a)	
RAP 13.4(b)	
RAP 13.4(b)(2)	7
RAP 13.4(b)(3)	
RAP 13.4(b)(4)	

I. INTRODUCTION

Sarah Christner, a full-time front desk receptionist at a medical clinic, was discharged from employment after repeatedly taking time off on short notice despite her employer's repeated warnings that this practice created a hardship for the employer to find front-desk coverage. Although some of the requests were for medical appointments, increasingly, the requests were related to her search for other employment, which she did not initially reveal to her employer. Until she disclosed her job search activities, her employer believed that all the requests were for medical reasons and tried to accommodate those requests. When they learned that many of the requests were in fact for job interviews, and that she intended to continue to make frequent requests for time off on short notice until she found alternate employment, the employer ended Christner's employment. The Commissioner of the Employment Security Department and the Court of Appeals properly concluded that Christner's conduct amounted to a "deliberate violation[] or disregard of the standards of behavior which the employer has the right to expect of an employee," RCW 50.04.294(1)(b), disqualifying her from unemployment compensation.

This case involves a routine application of the Employment Security Act to the distinct facts of this case, and the Court should reject Christner's attempts to constitutionalize alleged procedural errors that are

not supported by the record or the law. There is no basis for review under RAP 13.4(b). The Department respectfully asks the Court to deny the Petition for Review.

II. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

For the reasons set forth below, the issues raised in Christner's Petition are not appropriate for this Court's discretionary review under RAP 13.4(b). If the Court were to accept review, however, the issues that would be presented would be:

1. The Commissioner found that Christner made repeated requests for time off, often with short notice; that she only later revealed to the employer that many of the requests were for job interviews, when the employer believed all of the requests were for medical appointments; that the employer warned Christner that the repeated requests on short notice created a hardship because it had to scramble to find coverage; that Christner then made approximately five short-notice requests for time off in a five week period; and that Christner stated that she would require additional time off on short notice for job-seeking activities. Given these findings, did the Commissioner properly conclude that Christner was discharged for misconduct under the Employment Security Act for a "[d]eliberate violation[] or disregard of standards of behavior which the employer has the right to expect of an employee." RCW 50,04.294(1)(b).

2. Did the Court of Appeals properly reject Christner's claimed procedural errors when she was afforded notice that the hearing would concern misconduct and she had an opportunity to examine the employer witnesses and rebut the evidence the employer offered?

III. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE CASE

Sarah Christner was hired by the Washington Center for Pain Management (WCPM) as a full-time front desk receptionist at one of its clinics in November 2012. CP 96, 109, 161 (Finding of Fact (FF) 3), 162 (FF 4). WCPM has multiple clinics, and it requires a receptionist at each clinic. CP 102. If a receptionist is going to be absent on a given day, WCPM must arrange for coverage. *Id.* Christner testified that the employer had a policy that required requests for time off to be submitted in writing at least two weeks in advance. CP 132.

During her employment with WCPM, Christner made repeated requests for time off, often with short notice, which created a hardship on the employer and its staff to find front desk coverage. CP 97, 99, 102-03, 110-11, 114, 120-21, 155-56, 162 (FF 6). While some of the requests were for medical appointments, Christner eventually revealed to her employer that many of the requests were related to her pursuit of other

employment.¹ CP 114-15, 117, 121-25, 155, 162 (FF 5, 8). Until Christner disclosed that some of the requests were for job seeking activities, the employer believed that all of the requests were for medical reasons. CP 106-07, 162 (FF 5).

The employer then warned Christner both verbally and in writing that her frequent requests for time off were creating a hardship because it was difficult to find coverage so frequently and on short notice. CP 102-04. Her manager often had to scramble to find another receptionist to cover Christner's shift, or the manager would fill in herself. CP 102. On September 26, 2013, the employer sent Christner an email warning about her repeated requests for time off with short notice. CP 98-99, 117-18, 120-21, 162 (FF 5). The warning stated that it was becoming very difficult for scheduling purposes to accommodate her frequent leave requests, especially when there was not adequate time prior to the requested leave. CP 120.

Following this warning, Christner requested time off on approximately five separate occasions in a five-week period.² CP 97, 103,

¹ Christner asserts in her Petition for Review that she "experienced two acute medical issues" "[i]n the last few weeks of employment." Pet. for Review at 3. There is no finding that Christner's medical issues arose in the last few weeks of employment, and there is nothing in the record to support that claim. Christner's own email to her supervisor prior to her discharge stated, "More recently, however, I have been requesting time off for personal matters regarding appointments for other employment." CP 155.

² At the Court of Appeals, Christner challenged the finding that she requested time off on short notice approximately five times in a five-week period following the

124-25, 162 (FF 7). On October 10, 2013, Christner requested October 23, 2013, off from work to participate in an "oral board" for a job opportunity with the Snohomish Department of Corrections, though at the time, she did not disclose the reason for the request. CP 114-16, 162 (FF 8). When she had not received a response from her employer by October 18, Christner sent a follow-up email to her supervisor to renew the request. It was in this email that she disclosed that she "had been requesting time off for personal matters regarding appointments for other employment." CP 114-15, 132, 155, 162 (FF 9). Christner had applied for several different positions with the Snohomish Department of Corrections, and there were many boards and exams for each position. CP 122, 155. She further indicated that she would need to continue to request time off on short notice to participate in the various stages of the hiring process with the Department of Corrections. CP 105, 155. Following this email, the employer requested Christner to submit her resignation, explaining they needed a reliable, full-time front desk receptionist. CP 155-56, 162 (FF 10). Christner submitted a letter of resignation, which became effective November 1. CP 127, 153, 155, 162 (FF 11).

įI.

Christner applied for unemployment benefits, which the Department initially allowed. CP 139-40, 161 (FF 1). The initial determination concluded

written warning. Appellant's Opening Br. at 3-4. But it was Christner's own testimony that established this fact. CP 124-25; Resp'ts Br. at 11; Slip op. at 8.

Christner was discharged without misconduct, citing RCW 50.04.294, the Employment Security Act's definition of misconduct. CP 139-40. The employer appealed the allowance of benefits, and an administrative law judge (ALJ) convened an evidentiary hearing. CP 71, 161 (FF 2). The Notice of Hearing stated that the purpose of the hearing was to determine whether Christner "was discharged from employment for misconduct pursuant to RCW 50.20.066, or voluntarily quit without good cause pursuant to RCW 50.20.050." CP 183. At the hearing, Christner argued she was fired. CP 113.

Following the hearing, the ALJ issued an initial order finding that "the employer was the moving party" in the job separation and, therefore, Christner was discharged from employment and did not voluntarily quit. CP 163 (Conclusion of Law (CL) 5). The ALJ further concluded that Christner was discharged for disqualifying misconduct because of her frequent and continued requests for time off on short notice—five in a five-week period despite knowing that such requests created a hardship on the employer. CP 164 (CL 11).

Christner petitioned the Commissioner of the Department for review of the ALJ's decision. CP 172-75. The Commissioner adopted the ALJ's findings and conclusions and clarified that Christner's conduct amounted to misconduct under RCW 50.04.294(1)(b), because it "evinced a deliberate

violation and disregard of standards of behavior which an employer has the right to expect of an employee." CP 178-79.

Christner petitioned for judicial review in the Snohomish County Superior Court, which affirmed the Commissioner's decision. CP 6-8. She then appealed to the Court of Appeals, which affirmed the Commissioner's decision in an unpublished opinion. *Christner v. Dep't of Emp't Sec.*, No. 73024-0-I (Wash. Ct. App. June 6, 2016).

IV. REASONS WHY THE COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW

Rule of Appellate Procedure 13.4(b) provides the criteria for when this Court will review a Court of Appeals decision. Christner is incorrect when she argues that the decision of the Court of Appeals involves issues of substantial public interest, conflicts with other appellate decisions, and presents constitutional due process questions. RAP 13.4(b)(2), (3), (4). Instead, this is a matter where Christner has lost at all levels of review and now attempts to constitutionalize perceived errors to convince the Court to accept review. But this case involves a straightforward application of the Employment Security Act to the specific facts of this case. The Court of Appeals properly rejected the alleged procedural errors that are not supported by the law or the record. Thus, the decision below presents no conflict, no issue of public importance, and no issue of constitutional dimension that merits this Court providing a third level of judicial review.

A. The Court of Appeals Decision Does Not Conflict with Other Appellate Decisions

Christner suggests this case presents a "conflict of legal interpretations under RCW 50.04.294(1)(a) and (2)(f)." Pet. for Review at 9. But in finding Christner's conduct amounted to misconduct, the Commissioner relied solely on RCW 50.04.294(1)(b), "Deliberate violations or disregard of standards of behavior which the employer has the right to expect of an employee." CP 178-79. Thus any comparison to cases applying different provisions of the Employment Security Act's misconduct definition is inapt. *See* slip op. at 11 n.22. Even if such comparison were appropriate, the alleged conflict between those other provisions not relied on by the agency here does not warrant review under RAP 13.4(b).

Christner claims that the decision below presents a conflict, but she does not specifically identify with which cases the Court of Appeals decision supposedly conflicts. The only decisions Christner cites as possibly conflicting with the Court of Appeals decision here are *In re Griswold*, 102 Wn. App. 29, 15 P.3d 153 (2000), *Rapada v. Nooksack Indian Tribe*, No. 74116-1-I, 2016 WL 3456865 (Wash. Ct. App. June 20, 2016) (unpublished), and *Kirby v. Dep't of Emp't Sec.*, 179 Wn. App. 834, 320 P.3d 123 (2014), *review denied*, 181 Wn.2d 1004 (2014). Pet. for Review at 14, 20. None of these cases presents a conflict.

Griswold involved a grocery store meat wrapper who was fired for purchasing outdated meat at a marked down price. *Griswold*, 102 Wn. App. at 31-32. The court determined this did not amount to misconduct because the employer's policy seemed to permit purchases of past pulldate meat, the store managers routinely authorized such purchases to boost their monthly sales totals, and the employee received no warnings about her conduct. *Id* at 33, 38. In contrast here, Christner received ample warning that her frequent requests for time off on short notice created a hardship on her employer, yet she continued to engage in the practice. Neither the record nor the findings support Christner's bare assertion that the employer's policy "was not uniformly applied to all employees." Pet. for Review at 14. There is no conflict between these two, factually different cases.

Rapada, an unpublished decision, also involved an inconsistently applied employer policy. *Rapada*, No. 74116-1-I, 2016 WL 3456865, at *5. Even there, the court stated that an "employer's practices may create a reasonable expectation as to workplace rules." *Id.* at *4. The case poses no conflict because that court held that there was no evidence the employee's

conduct jeopardized the employer's interests; therefore, misconduct was not established under RCW 50.04.294(1)(a). *Id* at *5.

In *Kirby*, the court upheld the Department's *allowance* of benefits because the employee's refusal to write an incident report on command was based on confusion and apprehension as she had already written the report, and there was no evidence she was aware she was disregarding the employer's rights and interests. *Kirby*, 179 Wn. App. at 847. Given the previously-discussed warnings that Christner received, it cannot be said that she was unaware that she was disregarding her employer's interests or standards. Again, there is no conflict given this factual difference.

Christner further argues, without citing to authority, that "[b]ehavior that an employer has 'the right' to expect under (1)(b) is that behavior for which no warning is required." Pet. for Review at 12. She reasons that since Christner *was* warned that her frequent, short-notice leave requests were burdensome for the employer, this could not amount to a standard the employer had the right to expect. But no case says that standards of behavior employers have the right to expect must be "universally" accepted rules. *See* Pet. for Review at 12. Moreover, it is precisely *because* she was warned and put on notice that her conduct created a hardship that the employer had a right to expect Christner to not continue engaging in the conduct—especially to not make five short-

notice requests for non-emergent reasons within a five week period following the warning. *See* slip op. at 12 (finding the examples in the Unemployment Insurance Resource Manual illustrative, not exhaustive, and that Christner's conduct was not inconsistent with those examples). The court's conclusion that these facts showed misconduct is unremarkable and does not warrant this Court's review, given that the conclusion is uniquely tied to the specific facts of this case.

In short, the court appropriately found that once the employer put Christner on notice that her frequent short-notice requests for time off created a hardship for them to accommodate, the employer had the right to expect that she would not continue to make such requests except for emergency situations. Yet even after receiving this warning, she made approximately five short-notice leave requests in a five week period—for job seeking activities. The court correctly affirmed the Commissioner's conclusion that these facts demonstrated a deliberate disregard of the standards of behavior the employer had the right to expect. That conclusion does not conflict with any other case.

B. The Petition Does Not Involve an Issue of Substantial Public Interest That Should Be Determined by This Court

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